
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF MAINE 

 

                                                                                      

PENOBSCOT NATION,    )                 

)                  

  Plaintiff,                       )                                          

                                                             )                                        

       )       

                                                                             ) 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, on its own      )    

behalf, and for the benefit of the Penobscot              )           

Nation              )      Civ. No. 1:12-cv-00254-GZS  

                                             )  

                                                                           ) 

  Plaintiff-Intervenor,                       )                       

      ) 

                        v. )                    

 )                                                                         

THE STATE OF MAINE; JANET T. MILLS, ) 

Attorney General for the State of Maine;   ) 

CHANDLER WOODCOCK,    ) 

Commissioner for the Maine Department of   ) 

Inland Fisheries and Wildlife; and   ) 

JOEL T. WILKINSON, Colonel for the   ) 

Maine Warden Service; each in his/her   ) 

official capacity, ) 

                                                                            )     

       ) 

                                                                            ) 

                       Defendants.                                  ) 

__________________________________________) 

                                    

 

UNITED STATES’ MOTION TO INTERVENE (WITH INCORPORATED 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW) 

 

 

 

 

 

Case 1:12-cv-00254-GZS   Document 33   Filed 08/16/13   Page 1 of 12    PageID #: 366



- 1 - 

 

The United States moves to intervene as a matter of right as a plaintiff pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 24(a) or, in the alternative, to intervene permissively pursuant to 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 24(b).  The United States seeks intervention to protect the 

Penobscot Indian Nation’s (“Nation”) federal statutorily protected reserved right to sustenance 

fishing – as well as the authority to regulate sustenance fishing by tribal members – within those 

portions of the Penobscot River that lie within the Nation’s Reservation, and the related right to 

regulate hunting, including sustenance hunting by tribal members, within these Reservation 

waters.  This requires the Court to interpret the scope of the Penobscot Reservation as 

incorporated into and defined by federal law.  As indicated in the United States’ proposed 

complaint, Exh. 1, if intervention is granted, the United States would join the State of Maine as a 

party defendant to ensure that all relevant parties are bound by the Court’s final disposition of 

this matter. 

INTRODUCTION 

 This case concerns whether the Nation’s statutorily protected right to sustenance fish 

may be exercised in the Penobscot River.  The State of Maine contends that the entire River is 

outside the boundaries of the Penobscot Reservation, effectively nullifying a provision of the 

Maine Implementing Act (“MIA”), which provides that the Nation can regulate sustenance 

fishing by Nation members on the Reservation.  The MIA was enacted as part of the settlement 

of tribal land claims brought against the State of Maine, and it only has legal effect with regard 

to the Nation because it was ratified and confirmed when Congress passed the Maine Indian 

Claims Settlement Act (“MICSA”).
1
  The United States does not seek to reopen what was settled 

                                                            
1
 The MICSA affirms the Reservation boundary established by the MIA, 25 U.S.C. § 1722(i), 

and further approves the jurisdictional provisions of the MIA at 25 U.S.C. § 1725(b)(1). 
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by MICSA and the MIA, nor does it seek to challenge any transfers of land pre-dating 1980.  

Rather, it seeks a judicial interpretation of a term of the federal statute that ratified the settlement, 

namely the scope of the term “Penobscot Indian Reservation.” 

The United States has a substantial interest in protecting the rights of tribes as well as 

protecting the integrity of their reservations under federal law.  Moreover, the United States has a 

sovereign interest in the interpretation and enforcement of federal statutes, particularly those, like 

MICSA, enacted to benefit Indians and protect their lands and resources.  Accordingly, this case 

squarely implicates federal interests and a denial of this intervention could compromise the 

ability of the United States to protect those interests.   

This application is timely, and intervention will not prejudice any parties.  As the Court 

noted in its June 18, 2013 Order granting the motion of the “NPDES Permittees” to intervene, 

“this case is still in its early stages” with discovery still underway.  Dkt. No. 24 at 7.  Moreover, 

although the United States could bring a separate action against the State, intervention in the 

present litigation serves the interests of all parties, as well as judicial economy.   

ARGUMENT 

I. The United States Is Entitled to Intervene as a Matter of Right 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 24(a) provides that on timely motion, the Court must 

permit anyone to intervene who “claims an interest relating to the property or transaction that is 

the subject of the action, and is so situated that disposing of the action may as a practical matter 

impair or impede the movant’s ability to protect its interest, unless existing parties adequately 

represent that interest.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(a)(2).  Rule 24 has been distilled by courts into a four 

prong test: “(1) the party must claim an interest in the property; (2) disposition of the case 

without intervention, would, as a practical matter, impair or impede the party’s ability to protect 
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that interest; (3) the party’s interest is inadequately represented by the existing parties; and (4) 

the motion for intervention is timely made.”  Ewers v. Heron, 419 F.3d 1, 3 (1st Cir. 2005) 

(internal citations omitted).    

A. The United States’ Application is Timely 

Four factors guide this Court’s consideration of whether the United States’ motion is 

timely: (1) the length of time the United States knew of its interest before deciding to intervene; 

(2) prejudice to the parties caused by not moving to intervene promptly; (3) prejudice to the 

United States if not allowed to intervene; and (4) “the existence of unusual circumstances 

militating for or against intervention.”  United States v. Metropolitan Dist. Com’n, 865 F.2d 2, 5 

(1st Cir. 1989).  The First Circuit has explained that “the timeliness requirement was not 

designed to penalize prospective intervenors for failing to act promptly; rather it ensures that 

existing parties to the litigation are not prejudiced by the failure of would-be intervenors to act in 

a timely fashion.”  Garrity v. Gallen, 697 F.2d 452, 455 (1st Cir. 1983). 

The Nation formally requested federal intervention by letter to the Department of the 

Interior dated September 25, 2012.  Because intervention in this matter is not a step the United 

States takes lightly, time was needed to investigate and evaluate the merits of the legal claims at 

issue here, as well as determine whether intervention serves broader federal interests.  During 

June and July, the United States consulted with Attorney General Mills and other State officials 

regarding their views of this case and the feasibility of settlement and, in the wake of those talks, 

concluded intervention was appropriate.  The case is still in its early stages with discovery not 

scheduled to conclude until late September.  While granting intervention may require a relatively 

modest extension of the discovery schedule, intervention by the United States at this stage would 

not raise new issues and, in any event, would occur before the deadline for filing dispositive 
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motions, and well before the Court has decided any dispositive motions or reached a final 

judgment.  See Fiandaca v. Cunningham, 827 F.2d 825, 833 (1st Cir. 1987) (finding intervention 

even after the conclusion of trial was timely and noting that “timeliness is to be determined from 

all the circumstances,” not just the point to which a lawsuit has progressed) (internal quotations 

and brackets omitted). 

The United States’ presence in this litigation will not burden or prejudice the current 

parties beyond the likely need to revisit the case scheduling order in light of the United States 

(and NPDES permittees) intervention.  At the same time, however, intervention serves the 

interest of judicial economy because the United States would have standing to bring an 

independent action raising the same claims that are presently before this Court, and such a suit 

would burden defendants with defending two separate lawsuits.  See Trbovich v. United Mine 

Workers, 404 U.S. 528, 536 (1972) (noting that “[i]ntervention . . . in a pending enforcement 

suit, unlike initiation of a separate suit . . . subjects the [defendant] to relatively little additional 

burden”).  Indeed, absent federal intervention, this Court’s resolution of the reservation boundary 

question before it would not be binding upon the United States.
2
  N.L.R.B. v. Donna-Lee 

Sportswear Co., Inc., 836 F.2d 31, 34 (1st Cir. 1987) (collateral estoppel only binding where 

                                                            
2
 In contrast, if the United States becomes a party, this Court’s judgment will be binding both on 

the United States and the Nation. Cf. Heckman v. United States, 224 U.S. 413, 445-46 (1912).  

Moreover, because the United States proposed Complaint-in-Intervention will join the State of 

Maine as a party, resolution of this case will be final with regard to the State as well.  Assuming 

the Court permits this, the addition of the State as a party will not significantly affect and should 

not alter the outcome of the timeliness inquiry. State officials are already named parties to the 

litigation and are represented by counsel from the State Office of the Attorney General.  Upon 

intervention, the United States would be a party to the litigation and would be entitled to join the 

State as a defendant pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 20(a)(2).  Joinder of the State would be proper 

under Rule 20(a)(2) because there are questions of law or fact common to all Defendants. 
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same parties involved in subsequent litigation).  See also Smith v. Pangilinan, 651 F.2d 1320, 

1324-25 (9th Cir. 1981) (reversing denial of the United States’ intervention, noting that denying 

intervention would cause the matter to be litigated twice).     

B. The United States Has Substantial Legal Interests at Stake 

The United States has a “direct and substantial interest in the subject matter of the 

litigation.”  International Paper Co. v. Inhabitants of the Town of Jay, Maine, 887 F.2d 338, 342 

(1st Cir. 1989).  The United States, as trustee for Indian tribes, has a sovereign interest in 

protecting the integrity of reservation boundaries and in the interpretation of federal statutes 

designed to benefit Indians.  “The Constitution vests the Federal Government with exclusive 

authority over relations with Indian tribes.”  Montana v. Blackfeet Tribe, 471 U.S. 759, 764 

(1985).  The Supreme Court has long-recognized the general trustee relationship between the 

Government and tribal nations.  United States v. Mitchell, 463 U.S. 206, 225 (1983); Worcester 

v. Georgia, 31 U.S. (6 Pet.) 515, 556-57 (1832);  Joint Tribal Council of Passamaquoddy Tribe v. 

Morton, 528 F.2d 370, 375 (1st Cir. Me. 1975) (“The general notion of a ‘trust relationship,’ 

often called a guardian-ward relationship, has been used to characterize the . . .  relationship 

between the federal government and . . .  tribes.”);  Penobscot Nation v. Fellencer, 164 F.3d 706, 

709 (1st Cir. 1999) (“Congress’ authority to legislate over Indian affairs is plenary and only 

Congress can abrogate or limit an Indian tribe’s sovereignty.”). 

The MICSA expressly acknowledged federal recognition of the Penobscot Indian Nation 

and made the Nation “eligible to receive all of the financial benefits which the United States 

provides to Indians, Indian nations or tribes or bands of Indians. . . .” 25 U.S.C. § 1725(i).  

MICSA was enacted by Congress in order to settle claims that much of the State of Maine had 

been acquired unlawfully from the Penobscot Nation and other tribes inhabiting the State.  25 
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U.S.C. §§ 1721(a)(1); 1721(b).
3
  The State of Maine also enacted a statute as part of the land 

claim settlement, the MIA, M.R.S. 30 §§ 6201-14.  However, that state statute only has effect 

because the statute was “approved, ratified, and confirmed” by Congress in MICSA, 25 U.S.C. § 

1725(b)(1) and MICSA sets the terms on which the MIA may be modified or amended, 25 

U.S.C. § 1725(e)(1).   

The MIA defines the Penobscot Indian Reservation, 30 M.R.S. § 6203(8), but by virtue 

of its ratification by Congress, it has the force and effect of federal law.  Fellencer,164 F.3d at 

708.  Thus the United States has a two-fold interest in this litigation.  First, as a part of its trust 

obligations to the Nation, the United States has a legal interest in protecting the Nation’s 

reservation borders and in ensuring that the Nation can fully exercise its sovereign powers within 

those borders without improper interference from the State and others.  Indeed, MICSA 

expressly provides federal protection of Penobscot lands and natural resources by prohibiting 

their transfer except under circumstances specified in the federal statute.  25 U.S.C. § 1724(g)(2).  

Second, insofar as this litigation involves questions about how the MICSA and the MIA define 

the Nation’s reservation boundaries, the United States has an interest in how federal statutes 

affecting the rights and interests of Indians are interpreted by the courts. 

These interests satisfy the legal interest requirement of Rule 24(a)(2).  See Int’l Paper Co. 

v. Inhabitants of Town of Jay, Me., 887 F.2d 338, 344-45 (1st Cir. 1989) (recognizing that 

                                                            
3
 The MICSA resolved the Maine land claims by ratifying pre-1980 acquisitions of Indian land 

that otherwise violated federal law.  25 U.S.C. § 1723(a)(1).  It also precludes the United States 

from challenging transfers of Indian land that violate State law where those transfers occurred 

before October 10, 1980.  25 U.S.C. § 1723(a)(2).  Neither of those provisions are implicated in 

the present suit, which turns on whether the boundary of the Penobscot Reservation, as defined 

by federal statute, 25 U.S.C. §§ 1722(i) & 1725(b)(1),extends into the Main Stem of the 

Penobscot River. 
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precedential weight of statutory interpretation can implicate interest of proposed intervenor 

government). 

C. The United States’ Interests May be Impaired by this Litigation 

The State of Maine’s contention that none of the Penobscot River lies within the Nation’s 

Reservation threatens the United States’ interest in protecting the integrity of the Nation’s 

reservation.  More specifically, a decision in Maine’s favor means that sovereign rights 

guaranteed to the Nation under the MIA will be impaired.  For example, the MIA guarantees the 

Nation a sustenance fishing right in reservation waters substantially free of state interference.  30 

M.R.S. § 6207(4).  If the Penobscot River in its entirety is off-reservation, it is not clear where 

the Nation can meaningfully exercise this federal statutory fishing right.  The federal aims of 

securing a Penobscot Reservation along with enumerated tribal rights to be exercised within that 

Reservation (as part of the settlement of the Maine land claims in which tribal claims to 

significant other lands in Maine were extinguished), therefore,  would be frustrated by the 

outcome of the present case.  Accordingly, the United States’ interests may be impaired by this 

litigation.   

D. Existing Parties Do Not Adequately Represent the United States’ Interests 

The existing parties to this lawsuit do not adequately represent the United States’ 

interests.  The First Circuit has noted that “the adequacy of existing representation is sometimes 

regarded as only a minimal barrier to intervention,” although overcoming it requires “more than 

speculation as to the purported inadequacy.”  Moosehead Sanitary Dist. v. S. G. Phillips Corp., 

610 F.2d 49, 54 (1st Cir. 1979); see also Trbovich, 404 U.S. at 538 n.10 (“the burden of making 

[a showing of inadequate representation] should be treated as minimal.”); B. Fernandez & Hnos., 

Inc. v. Kellogg USA, Inc., 440 F.3d 541, 545 (1st Cir. 2006) (only a “minimal” showing is 
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needed); 7C Wright & Miller, Federal Practice & Proc.: Civil § 1909 (3d ed. 2011) (“[T]here is 

good reason in most cases to suppose that the applicant is the best judge of the representation of 

the applicant's own interests and to be liberal in finding that one who is willing to bear the cost of 

separate representation may not be adequately represented by the existing parties.”). Even where 

a proposed intervenor arguably shares the same “ultimate goal” in the litigation as an existing 

party, the “intervenor need only offer an adequate explanation as to why it is not sufficiently 

represented by the named party.”  Kellogg USA, Inc., 440 F.3d at 546 (internal quotations 

omitted).  The United States easily meets this standard. 

The United States, as sovereign, shares the interest of the Penobscot Nation in protecting 

both its federally guaranteed reservation as well as its rights under MICSA and MIA.  But the 

United States’ interest in the litigation is broader than the Penobscot Nation’s immediate focus 

on protecting the Nation’s reservation and rights under the MIA and MICSA.  See, e.g., Sierra 

Club v. Robertson, 960 F.2d 83, 86 (8th Cir. 1992) (noting government interest inherently 

broader than that of private interest groups with same litigation objectives).
4
  This litigation not 

only concerns the Penobscot Reservation but will involve the interpretation of the MICSA and 

the MIA.  The United States has an independent interest in how the courts interpret federal law, 

particularly where, as here, those laws have scope beyond the specific interests of the Penobscot 

Nation.  The MICSA and MIA, after all, also apply to other Maine tribes, including the 

                                                            
4
 For example, in Heaton v. Monogram Credit Card Bank, 297 F.3d 416 (5th Cir. 2002), the Fifth 

Circuit Court of Appeals reversed the district court’s denial of intervention by the Federal 

Deposit Insurance Corporation, according significant weight to the agency’s “broader interest in 

protecting the proper and consistent application of the Congressionally designed framework to 

ensure the safety and integrity of the federal deposit insurance system.”  Id. at 424.  The court 

further explained, “Government agencies such as the FDIC must represent the public interest, not 

just the economic interests of one industry.”  Id. at 425. 
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Passamaquoddy Tribe and that Tribe may be affected by whether the Court adopts a liberal or 

cramped approach to language in the MIA defining reservation boundaries.  25 U.S.C. § 1722(f); 

30 M.R.S. § 6203(5).  How this Court approaches and interprets the relevant provisions of the 

MICSA and MIA here therefore implicates federal responsibilities towards other Maine tribes.  

See Int’l Paper Co., 887 F.2d at 344-45 (1st Cir. 1989).  

Beyond that, the United States has its own independent and sovereign interest in seeing 

the terms of the MIA and MICSA upheld consistent with the intent of Congress when it enacted 

the MICSA and appropriated significant federal funds as part of the resolution of the Maine land 

claims.  Simply put, the settlement of the Maine land claims involved federal, state and tribal 

sovereign interests, and all three are implicated in litigation, like that presently before the Court, 

in which the terms of the statutes enacting that settlement are at issue.   

II. The United States Meets the Standard for Permissive Intervention 

Even if a party is not entitled to intervene as a matter of right, the Court has discretion to 

permit intervention, upon timely motion, to anyone who “has a claim or defense that shares with 

the main action a common question of law or fact.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(b)(1)(B).
5
  Whether to 

grant permissive intervention pursuant to Rule 24(b) is wholly within the court’s discretion.   

Daggett, 172 F.3d at 113.  “In exercising its discretion, the court must consider whether the 

                                                            
5
 In addition, the Court may permit the federal officer or agency to intervene “if a party’s claim 

or defense is based on: (A) a statute or executive order administered by the officer or agency; or 

(B) any regulation, order, requirement, or agreement issued or made under the statute or 

executive order.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(b)(2).  The Court could alternatively grant permissive 

intervention under Rule 24(b)(2) because the parties’ claims and defenses are based on statutes 

administered by the United States.  Indeed, the “whole thrust” of Rule 24(b)(2) “is in the 

direction of allowing intervention liberally to governmental agencies and officers seeking to 

speak for the public interest.”  7C Wright & Miller § 1912. 
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intervention will unduly delay or prejudice the adjudication of the original parties’ rights.” Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 24(b)(3).   

The United States also satisfies the rule for permissive intervention because it has a claim  

that shares with the main action a common question of law or fact: whether portions of the 

Penobscot River fall within the Penobscot Nation’s Reservation and are thus subject to the 

Nation’s sustenance fishing and other rights as guaranteed by the MIA.  As already shown, the 

United States has substantial interests that may be impaired by this litigation, and no existing 

party adequately represents those interests.  This Court has already permitted local municipalities 

and other private entities permissive intervention on the strength that they will “add value to this 

litigation,” (Dkt. No. 24 at 9), and for the same reason the United States, possessing as it does a 

unique sovereign interest in this matter, should be permitted intervention.   

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, the United States requests the Court to allow it to intervene in 

this action as a plaintiff and to file the proposed Complaint-in-Intervention attached herewith. 
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Dated: August 16, 2013   Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

      ROBERT G. DREHER 

      ACTING ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 

 

      ______/s/________ 

Steven Miskinis 

      Indian Resources Section 

      Environment and Natural Resources Division 

      United States Department of Justice   

      P.O. Box 44378 

      Washington, D.C.  20026-4378 

      steven.miskinis@usdoj.gov 

      (202)305-0262 

      FAX (202)305-0275  

 

   

 

      Attorney for the United States 

 

      Of Counsel 

 

      Bella Sewall Wolitz 

      Attorney/Advisor 

      Office of the Solicitor 

      United States Department of the Interior 
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